
IN THE UNITED STATES BANKRUPTCY COURT


FOR THE WESTERN DISTRICT OF NORTH CAROLINA


WILKESBORO DIVISION

IN THE MATTER OF:






NAME:






CHAPTER 13 CASE NO. 







OUR FILE NO. 

ADDRESS:


SSN:




DEBTORS.

_______________________________________

Debtor and wife
, 



Adv. Proc. No. 08- _________

Plaintiffs,



versus







SELECT PORTFOLIO SERVICING, INC.
F/K/A FAIRBANKS CAPITAL CORPORATION,

THE BANK OF NEW YORK AS TRUSTEE

UNDER EQCC TRUST 2001-2 and

EQCC TRUST 2001-2,

Defendants.




_______________________________________

COMPLAINT FOR IMPROPER AND UNAUTHORIZED FEES
LACK OF STANDING AND FEE SHARING

Introduction
1.
This is an action for actual and punitive damages filed by the debtors pursuant to Sections 105(a), 362(a), 362(k)(1), 501, 502(j), 503 and 506(b) of the Bankruptcy Code, and Rules 2016(a) and 3001(e) of the Bankruptcy Rules. 
2.
This action is also filed to enforce the Order of Confirmation duly entered in this Chapter 13 case and to enforce and to implement other Bankruptcy Code provisions and Rules related thereto.

Jurisdiction and Venue
3.
Jurisdiction is conferred on this Court pursuant to the provisions of Section 1334 of Title 28 of the United Stated Code in that this proceeding arises in and is related to the above-captioned Chapter 13 case under Title 11 and concerns property of the Debtors in that case.

4.
This Court has both personal and subject matter jurisdiction to hear this case pursuant to Section 1334 of Title 28 of the United States Code, Section 157(b)(2) of Title 28 of the United States Code, and pursuant to the Order entered by the Judges of the United States District Court for the Western District of North Carolina on July 30, 1984 (the Referral Order), which Order was entered in accordance with the Bankruptcy Amendments and Federal Judgeship Act of 1984.

5.
This matter is a core proceeding and therefore the Bankruptcy Court has jurisdiction to enter a final order.  However, in the unlikely event this case is determined to be a non-core proceeding then and in that event the Plaintiffs consent to the entry of a final order by the Bankruptcy Judge.

6.
Venue lies in this District pursuant to Section 1391(b) of Title 28 of the United States Code.

Parties
7.
The Plaintiffs in this case were and are debtors under Chapter 13 of Title 11 of the United States Code in case number ________, which case is presently pending before this court. The Plaintiffs are hereinafter referred to as the Plaintiffs or the debtors.

8.
The Defendant, Select Portfolio Servicing, Inc. f/k/a Fairbanks Capital Corporation (“SPS”) is a corporation organized and existing under the laws of the State of Utah with a principal office address of 3815 South West Temple, Salt Lake City, UT 84115.
9.
The Defendant, The Bank of New York, is a National Bank organized under the laws of the State of New York with its primary office and principal place of business at One Wall Street, New York, NY 10286 (hereinafter BONY).  BONY is named as a Defendant here in its capacity as the named Trustee for the mortgage-backed securitized Trust identified as EQCC Trust 2001-2.  The Plaintiffs allege that all of the actions of SPS as alleged herein were conducted with the consent and approval of BONY and in course and scope of the agency relationship between SPS and BONY.

10.
The Defendant, EQCC Trust 2001-2 (“the Trust”), is a mortgage-backed securitized common law trust organized pursuant to the laws of the State of New York and is the alleged owner and holder of the mortgage note executed by the Plaintiffs and secured by the Deed of Trust on their residence. The Plaintiffs allege that all of the actions of SPS as alleged herein were conducted with the consent and approval of the Trust and in the course and scope of the agency relationship between SPS and the Trust.  

Factual Allegations
11.
The Chapter 13 case of the Plaintiffs was commenced by the filing of a petition with the Clerk of this Court on _________.
12.
The 341(a) meeting of creditors was held in Wilkesboro, North Carolina on _________.
13.
The Chapter 13 plan of the Plaintiffs was subsequently confirmed by order of this Court dated _________.

14.
The Chapter 13 plan as confirmed included a debt to SPS in the gross amount of $90,435.00, which was listed on Schedule D as a claim secured by a first deed of trust on the residential real estate of the Plaintiffs located at ___________________.  

15.
The Plaintiffs’ Chapter 13 plan provided for the cure of pre-petition arrears to SPS in the amount of $40,712.00 through _______, with the Plaintiffs to resume direct mortgage payments in _______.

16.
SPS filed a sworn proof of claim for the pre-petition arrears in the amount of $52,475.71 and for the first deed of trust in the amount of $134,003.78.  

17.
The Plaintiffs allege therefore that SPS received notice of the bankruptcy filing and of the Order of Confirmation entered in this case.
   
18.
 The claim of SPS for the first deed of trust is identified on the records of the Trustee as claim number 4 and the claim for the pre-petition arrears is identified as claim number 22.   
19.
By March 1, 2008, the Trustee’s office had disbursed the total sum of $26,966.64 to SPS on the principal arrearage claim, plus 8% interest.

20.
On or about March 19, 2007, SPS, by and through Theodore A. Nodell, Jr. filed a Motion for Relief from the Automatic Stay in this case as to the first deed of trust, alleging that the Plaintiffs were in default of their mortgage payments from August of 2006 to March of 2007 in the total sum of $10,178.24 including late charges.
21.
SPS alleged in the Motion for Relief from the Automatic Stay that “Petitioner holds a certain Promissory Note executed by Debtors on or about January 26, 1998.  This said note was secured by a certain Deed of Trust of the same date which was subsequently recorded in Book _____ Page _____, Register of Deeds, Iredell County, North Carolina.”  The Plaintiffs are informed and believe and therefore allege that this allegation was false and fraudulent to the extent that SPS was not in fact the “Holder” of the said promissory note but in fact and in law was only the “Servicer” for the Trust, the alleged owner and holder.
22.
Attached to the Motion for Relief from the Automatic Stay as Exhibits were documents intended to establish “proof” of SPS’s secured claim and that it “holds a certain Promissory Note executed by Debtors.”  The Plaintiffs are informed and believe and therefore allege that the said documents were fatally defective as hereinafter set-forth.
23.
Attached to the Motion for Relief from the Automatic Stay as Exhibits were the following documents:

(a).  A copy of a document purporting to be a Note dated January 26, 1998 in the amount of $98,459.98 in favor of Nationscredit Financial Services, Corp.;

(b).  A copy of a document purporting to be a Deed of Trust dated August 30, 1990 in the amount of $65,000.00 in favor of First Union National Bank of North Carolina marked “Paid and Satisfied in Full” on April 8, 1998, and recorded at Book ______, Page _______; and 
(c).  A copy of a document purporting to be a Deed of Trust dated July 26, 1995 in the amount of $50,000.00 in favor of Nationscredit Financial Services, Corp. marked “Cancelled” on March 11, 1998, and recorded at Book ______, Page ______. 
24.
None of the Exhibits attached to the Motion for Relief established that SPS had a valid and enforceable security interest in the debtors’ residential real estate or that SPS was the lawful “assignee” and “holder” of the original mortgage note.
25.
The Plaintiffs are informed and believe and therefore allege that SPS was guilty of fraudulent conduct, of misrepresentation, and of misconduct designed to mislead this Court and the attorney for the Debtors in the Chapter 13 case by the use of the Exhibits attached to the Motion for Relief from the Automatic Stay and for the allegations in the said Motion.

26.
On or about March 20, 2007, the Plaintiffs’ attorney filed an objection to the motion for relief from stay and requested the matter be set for a preliminary hearing before this Court.  
27.
The Plaintiffs allege that at the time he filed the objection and at all subsequent times thereafter (including the entry of the Agreed Order) their Chapter 13 attorney acted and relied upon the false and misleading allegations and documents filed by SPS.

28.
The Motion for Relief from the Automatic Stay was subsequently resolved prior to the hearing by the entry of an Agreed Order.  The Agreed Order, entered by the Court on March 26, 2007, also referenced the Deed of Trust recorded in Book _____, Page _____, Register of Deeds, Iredell County, North Carolina, which had been marked “Paid and Satisfied in Full.”
29.
The Agreed Order provided that the debtors were behind on their monthly mortgage payments to SPS since the bankruptcy filing in the sum of $10,178.24.  This was the amount allegedly owed through March of 2007.  The order directed the debtors, beginning in April of 2007 to make the regular payment plus an additional payment of $1,696.37 per month for 6 months.  SPS was granted automatic relief from the debtors’ Chapter 13 case upon any default.  The Plaintiffs did not see or approve of this Agreed Order and did not sign the same.  Rather, the Plaintiffs were only made aware of the said Order after it was entered and were advised by an employee of their Chapter 13 attorney that this was the best deal they could work out with SPS and that the Plaintiffs had no choice but to pay the amounts provided for in the Order if they wanted to save their home.
30.
The Agreed Order also specifically provided for the payment of SPS’s legal fees and expenses in the amount of $600.00.  This amount was to be paid for through the Chapter 13 plan. These fees and expenses were specifically requested and applied for by SPS in the Motion for Relief from the Automatic Stay and were approved by this Court upon entry of the Agreed Order.

31.
SPS’s post-confirmation claim for legal fees and expenses in the amount of $600.00 is identified on the records of the Trustee as claim number 26.  As of March 1, 2008, the Trustee had disbursed the sum of $152.04 to SPS on this claim.  
32.
SPS alleged that the debtors defaulted under the terms of the Agreed Order and therefore SPS took the position that it was automatically released from the case to pursue a state foreclosure action.

33.
SPS filed a foreclosure procedure in Iredell County, North Carolina in approximately November of 2007, which is presently pending as case number 07-SP-1036.  
34.
On February 25, 2008, the Debtors filed a Motion for Relief from the Agreed Order and Motion for Order to Stay Foreclosure Action which is presently scheduled for hearing before this Court on April 11, 2008 in the base Chapter 13 case.

35.
Even though SPS has taken the position that it is released from the bankruptcy case to pursue the foreclosure action, SPS has accepted Trustee disbursement checks on the arrearage claim since filing the foreclosure action as follows:

	Date
	Check #
	Payee
	Amount

	2/28/2008
	750114
	SELECT PORTFOLIO SERVICING INC
	$0.01

	1/31/2008
	747247
	SELECT PORTFOLIO SERVICING INC
	$262.95

	1/31/2008
	747247
	SELECT PORTFOLIO SERVICING INC
	$175.11

	12/28/2007
	744294
	SELECT PORTFOLIO SERVICING INC
	$706.51

	12/28/2007
	744294
	SELECT PORTFOLIO SERVICING INC
	$179.91

	11/29/2007
	741790
	SELECT PORTFOLIO SERVICING INC
	$1,928.71

	11/29/2007
	741790
	SELECT PORTFOLIO SERVICING INC
	$566.59


36.
Even though SPS has taken the position that it is released from the bankruptcy case to pursue the foreclosure action, SPS has accepted Trustee disbursement checks on the claim for legal fees since filing the foreclosure action as follows:

	Date
	Check #
	Payee
	Amount

	1/31/2008
	747247
	SELECT PORTFOLIO SERVICING INC
	$7.69

	12/28/2007
	744294
	SELECT PORTFOLIO SERVICING INC
	$15.67

	11/29/2007
	741790
	SELECT PORTFOLIO SERVICING INC
	$37.66


37.
The Plaintiffs allege that by accepting the payments referred to in paragraphs 35 and 36 herein SPS has waived the alleged default, is estopped from pursuing the foreclosure, and is guilty of taking and keeping property of this estate when it claimed no right to the same as evidenced by the foreclosure proceeding.   The Plaintiffs also believe and therefore allege that in the documents and papers filed in the state court foreclosure proceeding SPS has failed to disclose or account for any of these payments.

38.
The Plaintiffs allege that in addition to improperly collecting and retaining Trustee Disbursement checks SPS has improperly assessed the Plaintiffs’ mortgage loan with improper, unauthorized, unlawful, illegal and unreasonable fees and charges.  The Plaintiffs allege that these fees and charges have been added to their loan account by SPS in an attempt to collect and unlawfully increase the SPS mortgage servicing revenues from this case.  To the extent these fees and charges were not applied for and approved by this Court, the Plaintiffs allege that they are per se unreasonable and unlawful.
39.
A loan transactional history provided to the Plaintiffs by SPS in this case and dated February 5, 2008 specifically listed and identified the following “corporate advance” fees and “charges” against the Plaintiffs’ mortgage loan, which fees and charges have not been applied for or approved by this Court or otherwise noticed out in this case:
Date



Fee Description


Amount
July 5, 2005


Broker’s Price Opinion

$85.00

July 6, 2005


Bankruptcy Attorney Fees
         $125.00

July 6, 2005


Foreclosure Legal Costs
         $149.28
July 29, 2005


Foreclosure Attorney Fee
         $545.00

August 18, 2005

Litigation Fee


         $125.00

September 14, 2005

Bankruptcy Attorney Fees
         $125.00

January 6, 2006

Broker’s Price Opinion

$85.00

July 13, 2006


Broker’s Price Opinion

$85.00

May 30, 2007


Bankruptcy Attorney Fees
           $50.00

June 25, 2007

Bankruptcy Attorney Fees
           $50.00

August 29, 2007

Bankruptcy Attorney Fees
           $50.00

September 19, 2007

Broker’s Price Opinion

 $85.00

40.
The loan transactional history also indicates the “Corporate Advance Balance” prior to the Plaintiffs’ bankruptcy filing was $2045.96.  On February 5, 2008 the “Corporate Advance Balance” was $4,205.74, revealing an increase of $2,159.78 in sums SPS charged to the Plaintiffs post-petition without taking into account the amount of these “corporate advances” that were paid down by SPS from funds received from the Chapter 13 Trustee and the Plaintiffs during the course of the Chapter 13 case.  
41.
The Plaintiffs received a monthly mortgage statement and demand for payment from SPS, approximately two months after the foreclosure action was commenced, said statement being dated January 16, 2008.  The said statement includes the sum of $4,205.74 identified as “Expenses paid by Servicer” and included in the breakdown of the “Total Amount Due.”  The said amount was followed by a footnote which reads, “If there is a balance under Expenses Paid By Servicer, it means that we have paid certain expenses on your behalf due to the delinquent status of your account.  You are responsible to reimburse us for these amounts plus interest, which may be billed at the note rate.”
42.
The Plaintiffs furthermore allege that the three Broker’s Price Opinion Fees identified herein are unauthorized and unapproved by the Court, and are therefore illegal and are otherwise excessive and unreasonable as a matter of law.  The Plaintiffs also allege that since SPS has never applied to the Court for the approval of these fees and charges all of the same are unreasonable per se.
43. 
The loan transactional history provided to the Plaintiffs by SPS in this case and dated February 5, 2008 also indicates a negative Escrow Advance Balance in the amount of $7131.44 when the debtors filed their Chapter 13 case.  On February 5, 2008, however, this same document indicated that the Escrow Account had a negative balance of $11,289.78.  
44.
The Plaintiffs allege that at all times relevant herein their regular and monthly contractual payment to SPS was $1272.28 and that the same is reflected in their monthly mortgage statements from SPS.  The Plaintiffs allege that SPS never provided them with an annual escrow analysis statement or with any notice of an increase in their mortgage payment in order to provide for any escrow for taxes and insurance.

45.
The Plaintiffs have been seriously and permanently damaged by the actions of SPS, as agent for the other Defendants, and that as a result of such actions they have been and continue to be forced to expend their time and expenses toward the defense of this contested matter to enforce their rights and have incurred substantial and significant legal fees and expenses in connection therewith.  The Plaintiffs have feared and do fear losing their home. 
First Claim for Relief

(Declaratory Judgment as to Agreed Order)

46.
The allegations in paragraphs 1 through 45 of this complaint are realleged and incorporated herein by this reference.
47.
The Plaintiffs allege that the Agreed Order entered in this case was procured by the fraud, misrepresentations and misconduct of SPS as alleged herein.

48.
The Plaintiffs allege that the said Order was entered within one (1) year of the date of the filing of this Adversary Proceeding and the pending Motion in the base case.

49.
The Plaintiffs allege that as a result of the allegations herein the said Order should be declared void and set-aside pursuant to the provisions of Rule 9024 of the Bankruptcy Rules and Rules 60(b)(1), 60(b)(2) and 60(b)(3) of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure.

50.
The Plaintiffs also allege that since the Order is subject to avoidance under Bankruptcy Rule 9024 this Court should enter an Order enjoining the state court foreclosure action until this adversary proceeding is concluded.

Second Claim for Relief

(Reconsideration of the Proof of Claim)

51.
The allegations in paragraphs 1 through 50 of this complaint are realleged and incorporated herein by this reference.

52.
The Plaintiffs are informed and believe and therefore allege that the principal balance of the mortgage note and the arrearage balance as set forth in the Proof of Claim filed in this case by SPS were both over-stated and incorrect.

53.
The Plaintiffs allege that at the time the said Proof of Claim was filed the Chapter 13 attorney had no reason to believe or suspect that the said claim was not accurate.

54.
As a result of the allegations herein, the Plaintiffs allege that good cause has been established for this Court to reconsider the said Proof of Claim.

55.
Section 502(j) of the Bankruptcy Code provides that “a claim that has been allowed or disallowed may be reconsidered for cause.”  This Section of the Code further provides that “a reconsidered claim may be allowed or disallowed according to equities of the case.”

56.
The Plaintiffs allege that the “equities” of this case require this court to permit and indeed order the reconsideration of the SPS Proof of Claim

Third Claim for Relief

(Lack of Standing)

57.
The allegations in paragraphs 1 through 56 of this complaint are realleged and incorporated herein by this reference.

58.
The Plaintiffs are informed and believe and therefore allege that at no time relevant to the allegations herein was SPS the actual “holder” and the lawful “assignee” of the mortgage note originally signed by the Plaintiffs.

59.
The Plaintiffs are also informed and believe and therefore allege that at no time relevant to the allegations herein was BONY or the Trust the actual “holder” and the lawful “assignee” of the mortgage note originally signed by the Plaintiffs.

60.
The Plaintiffs allege that as a result thereof the Defendant had no constitutional standing to file the sworn Proof of Claim, the Motion for Relief from Stay, or to otherwise participate in this Chapter 13 proceeding.

61.
The Plaintiffs allege that as a result thereof the Defendants should be ordered to pay back to the Chapter 13 Trustee all funds received on the arrearage claim and all funds received form the Plaintiffs in the form of direct mortgage payments.


Fourth Claim for Relief
(Violation of the Automatic Stay)
62.
The allegations in paragraphs 1 through 61 of this complaint are realleged and incorporated herein by this reference.

63.
The actions of the Defendants in imposing improper, unauthorized and unapproved fees and charges to the Plaintiffs’ mortgage loan account constitute a gross and willful violation of the automatic stay as set forth in 11 U.S.C. Section 362(a)(3).
64.
The imposition of the said unapproved Broker’s Price Opinion fees constitutes unlawful and illegal bankruptcy fees in violation of the automatic stay and inconsistent with the decision of this court in In re Stark, 242 B.R. 866 (W.D.N.C. 1999).

65.
As a result of the above violations of 11 U.S.C. Section 362(a), the Defendants are liable to the Plaintiffs for actual damages, punitive damages and legal fees under Section 362(k)(1) of the Bankruptcy Code.
66.
These acts of the Defendants are also violations of the North Carolina Consumer Protection Act. Under the provision of Section 75-52 of the North Carolina General Statutes the Defendant was and is prohibited from engaging in any conduct the natural consequences of which is to oppress, harass or abuse any person. The actions and conduct of the Defendants were oppressive and abusive in violation of the applicable provisions of Article 2 of Chapter 75 of the North Carolina General Statutes.   Such violations of state law further support imposing punitive damages for the automatic stay violations identified herein.
67.
All actions of the Defendants as described in this Complaint were done in bad faith and as such were violations of the covenant of good faith and fair dealing contained and implied in the Deed of Trust and mortgage note.  Such bad faith conduct and unfair dealing further supports imposing punitive damages for the stay violations.

68.
The Plaintiffs are therefore moving this court to award them substantial actual and punitive damages and their reasonable legal fees as a result of the allegations herein.

Fifth Claim for Relief

(Failure to Disclose Sharing of Fees)
69.

The allegations in paragraphs 1 through 68 of this complaint are realleged and incorporated herein by this reference.

70.

The Plaintiffs are informed and believe and therefore allege that SPS has entered into an agreement with a third-party who is not a Defendant in this case for the sharing of compensation received or to be received by SPS from the corporate advance fees and charges that SPS has added to the Plaintiffs’’ mortgage loan as alleged herein.

71.

The Plaintiffs allege that SPS has willfully failed to advise the Chapter 13 Trustee or this court of the existence of such agreement or of the detailed terms and conditions of such agreement.

72.

The Plaintiffs are informed and believe and therefore allege that SPS has in fact shared and disbursed to the said third-party some of the funds it has collected from the Chapter 13 Trustee and from the Plaintiffs with respect to the unlawful, illegal and unreasonable fees and charges as set forth in this complaint.

73.

 The Plaintiffs allege that such undisclosed sharing of compensation constitutes a clear violation of the applicable provisions of Rule 2016(a) of the Federal Rules of Bankruptcy Procedure.

74.

The Plaintiffs are informed and believe and therefore allege that in the Motion for Relief from the Automatic Stay filed in this case SPS specifically asked this court to approve fees and expenses as an allowed administrative expense under Section 503 of the Bankruptcy Code.

75.

The Plaintiffs allege that SPS shared or agreed to share some of the $600.00 in administrative claims approved by this court with a non-disclosed third-party provider.

76.

The Plaintiffs allege that Section 504 of the Code provides that any person or entity receiving compensation under Section 503 of the Code “may not share or agree to share any such compensation or reimbursement with any person or any compensation or reimbursement received by another person under such sections” without full and complete disclosure.

77.

The Plaintiffs allege that SPS willfully and intentionally violated these mandatory rules and statutory provisions by the sharing of some of the $600.00 in compensation approved as an administrative claim by this court.

Sixth Claim for Relief
 (Sections 105 and 506 of Title 11 of the United States Code)
78.
The allegations in paragraphs 1 through 77 of this complaint are realleged and incorporated herein by this reference.

79.
The actions of the Defendants in charging post-petition fees and expenses as alleged herein without any prior notice to or approval by this Court constitute willful, intentional, gross and flagrant violations of the provisions of Sections 105(a) and 506(b) of Title 11 of the United States Code and Rule 2016(a) of the Federal Rules of Bankruptcy Procedure.  Rule 2016(a) provides, in pertinent part, that:  "An entity seeking interim or final compensation for services, or reimbursement of necessary expenses, from the estate shall file an application setting forth a detailed statement of (1) the services rendered, time expended and expenses incurred, and (2) the amounts requested."  

80.
As a result of the above violations, the Defendant is liable to the Plaintiffs for actual damages, punitive damages and legal fees.


Seventh Claim for Relief
 (Improper and Unauthorized Fees)
81.
The allegations in paragraphs 1 through 80 of this complaint are realleged and incorporated herein by this reference.

82.
The actions alleged herein are acts in violation of Sections 362(a)(3) and 506(b) of Title 11 of the United States Code and Rule 3001(e) of the Bankruptcy Rules as the said claims of the Iredell County Tax Collector have been used to form the basis for a purported negative escrow account balance when in fact and in law the acquisitions of such claims by payment granted to the Defendants no greater rights than would have been held by the said Tax Collector.  

83.
The Plaintiffs allege that the collection and the attempt to collect said taxes by SPS violate the provisions of 362(a)(3) and 506(b) of the Code and Rule 3001(e) of the Bankruptcy Rules.

84.
The Plaintiffs further allege that the misconduct of the Defendants is aggravated by their failure to file the mandatory notice of transfer or assignment of a proof of claim for the said taxes as required by Rule 3001(e)(1) of the Bankruptcy Rules.    

85.
The Plaintiffs are informed and believe and therefore allege that the Defendants have attempted to accelerate the collection of the tax claim by adding the same to the escrow feature of the mortgage loan in this case and that such action has been prejudicial to the other creditors in this case and has caused substantial damages to the Plaintiffs.

86.
The Plaintiffs are also informed and believe and therefore allege that said fees are also in violation of the ruling of this Court in Smith v. TMS Mortgage (Case No. 00-31220) and the Order in Aid of Case Administration entered by this Court on April 6, 2001.

87.
As a result of the above violations, the Defendants are liable to the Plaintiffs for actual damages, punitive damages and reasonable legal fees.


Eighth Claim for Relief
 (Contempt of Court Orders)

88.
The allegations in paragraphs 1 through 87 are realleged and incorporated herein by this reference.

89.
The Plaintiffs allege that the conduct of the Defendants in charging and assigning legal fees and expenses to their mortgage loan “before” such fees were approved by this Court and in an amount “in excess” of the fees and expenses typically approved by this Court constitutes actions in contempt and in violation of the Order entered by this Court on or about March 26, 2007. The Plaintiffs also allege that such conduct also is in direct violation of the Order Confirming the Chapter 13 Plan entered in this case on _________.


90.
The Plaintiffs allege that this Court has authority under Section 105(a) of Title 11 of the United States Code this Court has authority to “issue any order, process, or judgment that is necessary or appropriate to carry out the provisions of this title.” 


91.
The Plaintiffs allege that this Court should impose serious and severe sanctions against the Defendant for assessing and charging the Plaintiffs’ loan account with legal fees and charges in excess of the amounts requested and actually approved by this court.

Ninth Claim for Relief

(Breach of Contract)

92.
The allegations in paragraphs 1 through 91 of this complaint are realleged and incorporated herein by this reference.


93.
The Plaintiffs allege that to the extent that portions of the Order entered by this Court on March 26, 2007, were valid, which validity is denied, then such terms were the result of a negotiated settlement between the Plaintiffs’ Chapter 13 attorney and the attorney for SPS.

95.
The Plaintiffs allege that as consideration for the acceptance of the terms of the said settlement their Chapter 13 attorney agreed that SPS would charge and that the Plaintiffs would repay legal fees and expenses of exactly $600.00.


96.
The Plaintiffs allege that their Chapter 13 attorney relied upon the promises and representations of SPS in agreeing to the terms and conditions of the Agreed Order.


97.
The Plaintiffs are informed and believe and therefore allege that at the time these negotiations were active between the parties SPS already knew that it had charged fees and expenses to the Plaintiffs’ loan in excess of the amounts represented to the Plaintiffs’ Chapter 13 attorney, the Chapter 13 Trustee, and this Court.

98.
The Plaintiffs allege that such conduct constituted an anticipatory breach of the settlement agreement between the parties.


99.
The Plaintiffs allege that such conduct lead to an actual breach of the settlement agreement by the collection and payment or some or all of the additional fees.


100.
The Plaintiffs are informed and believe and therefore allege that the terms and conditions of their Chapter 13 Plan specifically provided that the Defendant could not charge any fees or expenses to the mortgage loan without proper notice, the right to a hearing, and the entry of an Order approving the same.


101.
The Plaintiffs allege that the Confirmation of the Plan created a new and binding contract between the Plaintiffs and Defendant.


102.
The Plaintiffs allege that the conduct of the Defendants as alleged herein is consistent with a breach of the terms of the Confirmed Plan.


103.
The Plaintiffs allege that the conduct of the Defendants in this matter was in bad faith, was fraudulent, and was otherwise improper.


104.
The Plaintiffs allege that as a result of such conduct they are entitled to the award of damages, costs and reasonable legal fees from the Defendants.


105.
The Plaintiffs are informed and believe and therefore allege that this Court should impose punitive damages in order to deter the Defendants from such future conduct in this case and in other cases before this Court.  

Tenth Claim for Relief

(Secured Status of the Trust)


106.
The allegations in paragraphs 1 through 105 of this complaint are realleged and incorporated herein by this reference.


107.
The Plaintiffs are informed and believe that as of the date of the filing of this Chapter 13 case neither SPS, BONY or the Trust was the lawful “holder” and the due “assignee” of the mortgage note executed by the Plaintiffs.


108.
The Plaintiffs are informed and believe that as a result of the allegations herein none of the Defendants had the legal right under applicable North Carolina law to claim a secured status in this case.


109.
The Plaintiffs believe and therefore allege that as of the date of the filing of this case the actual and original mortgage note had been assigned in blank and therefore constituted a “bearer” instrument as that term is defined by Article 3 of the North Carolina Uniform Commercial Code.


110.
The Plaintiffs allege that under applicable North Carolina law the only party who has standing to enforce a “bearer instrument” is the lawful holder and assignee thereof.


111.
The Plaintiffs allege that none of the Defendants held the mortgage note under the conditions and pursuant to the allegations herein as of the date of the filing of this petition.


112.
The Plaintiffs therefore allege that none of the Defendants had the right under applicable law to claim a secured status in this case and to the extent they attempted to create such status post-petition said acts were and are prohibited by the automatic stay.

WHEREFORE, the Plaintiffs having set forth their claims for relief against the Defendant respectfully pray of the Court as follows:

A.
That the Plaintiffs have and recover against the Defendant a sum to be determined by the Court in the form of actual damages;
B.
That the Plaintiffs have and recover against the Defendant a sum to be determined by the Court in the form of statutory damages;

C.
That the Plaintiffs have and recover against the Defendant a sum to be determined by the Court in the form of punitive damages;

D.
That the Plaintiffs have and recover against the Defendant all reasonable legal fees and expenses incurred by their attorney;


E.
That the Plaintiffs be granted all of the Declaratory Relief as requested in the claims



asserted in this complaint;


F.
That this verified complaint be treated as an affidavit in support of the Plaintiffs’ 



Request for a Preliminary Injunction enjoining the foreclosure proceeding;


G.
That this verified complaint be treated as a Motion pursuant to Rule 7065 of



the Bankruptcy Rules and Rule 65 of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure for



a Preliminary Injunction that stays the pending state court foreclosure until a



final judgment is entered in this case; and

H.
That the Plaintiffs have such other and further relief as the Court may deem just and proper.

Dated this the ______ day of March, 2008.
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O. Max Gardner III
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